Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-16-2018

State v. Cruz Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45529

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jose Cruz appeals from the district court’s order revoking his probation. He contends that the district court abused its discretion by revoking his probation and instead should have reinstated his probation.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

In October 2014, Mr. Cruz pled guilty to felony domestic battery. (R., pp.57, 70.) The district court sentenced him to ten years, with three years fixed, and retained jurisdiction (“a rider”). (R., pp.70–71.) After the rider, the district court suspended Mr. Cruz’s sentence and placed him on probation. (R., pp.78, 79–82.)

In April 2016, the State moved for bench warrant for various probation violations. (R., pp.98–100.) The district court granted the motion. (R., pp.106–07.) Mr. Cruz admitted to violating his probation for failing to complete one year of intensive domestic violence treatment and absconding from supervision. (R., p.116; Tr. Vol. I,¹ p.5, Ls.4–9, p.6, Ls.3–12; Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”),² pp.306–08.) The district court ordered an updated PSI. (Tr. Vol. I, p.6, Ls.15–19.)

The first probation violation disposition hearing was held in November 2016. (R., p.118.) Mr. Cruz was present. (R., p.118). The district court continued the hearing for domestic violence treatment, and Mr. Cruz failed to appear at the next hearing, held in February 2017. (R., pp.118, 119; Tr. Vol. II, p.10, Ls.14–23.) Due to Mr. Cruz’s failure to appear, the disposition hearing did not occur until October 2017. (R., p.170.) At the disposition hearing, the district court revoked Mr. Cruz’s probation and executed his ten-year sentence. (R., pp.170, 171–72; Tr. Vol. II, p.12, Ls.5–6.) Mr. Cruz timely appealed. (R., pp.175–76.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it revoked Mr. Cruz’s probation and executed his underlying sentence of ten years, with three years fixed?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Revoked Mr. Cruz’s Probation And Executed His Underlying Sentence Of Ten Years, With Three Years Fixed

The district court is empowered by statute to revoke a defendant’s probation under certain circumstances. I.C. §§ 19-2602, -2603, 20-222. The Court uses a two-step analysis to

¹ There are two transcripts on appeal. The first, cited as Volume I, contains the admit/deny hearing. The second, cited as Volume II, contains the probation violation disposition hearing.

² Citations to the PSI will refer to the 605-page document with the confidential exhibits.

review a probation revocation proceeding. *State v. Sanchez*, 149 Idaho 102, 105 (2009). First, the Court determines “whether the defendant violated the terms of his probation.” *Id.* Second, “[i]f it is determined that the defendant has in fact violated the terms of his probation,” the Court examines “what should be the consequences of that violation.” *Id.* The determination of a probation violation and the determination of the consequences, if any, are separate analyses. *Id.*

Here, Mr. Cruz does not challenge his admissions to violating his probation. (Tr. Vol. I, p.5, Ls.4–9, p.6, Ls.3–12.) “When a probationer admits to a direct violation of her probation agreement, no further inquiry into the question is required.” *State v. Peterson*, 123 Idaho 49, 50 (Ct. App. 1992). Rather, Mr. Cruz submits the district court abused its discretion by revoking his probation.

“After a probation violation has been proven, the decision to revoke probation and pronounce sentence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Roy*, 113 Idaho 388, 392 (Ct. App. 1987). “A judge cannot revoke probation arbitrarily,” however. *State v. Lee*, 116 Idaho 38, 40 (Ct. App. 1989). “The purpose of probation is to give the defendant an opportunity to be rehabilitated under proper control and supervision.” *State v. Mummert*, 98 Idaho 452, 454 (1977). “In determining whether to revoke probation a court must consider whether probation is meeting the objective of rehabilitation while also providing adequate protection for society.” *State v. Upton*, 127 Idaho 274, 275 (Ct. App. 1995). The court may consider the defendant’s conduct before and during probation. *Roy*, 113 Idaho at 392. In this case, Mr. Cruz submits that the district court erred by revoking his probation because his probation was achieving its rehabilitative objective.

Although Mr. Cruz had some setbacks, he was ready to get his life back on track and comply with the terms of his probation. Mr. Cruz accepted responsibility for his actions by

turning himself in after he failed to appear. (Tr. Vol. II, p.6, Ls.13–15.) He previously completed Moral Reconciliation Therapy and 90 for 90 with Alcoholics Anonymous. (Tr. Vol. II, p.6, Ls.10–11; PSI, p.4.) At the time of the disposition hearing, he was still attending Alcoholics Anonymous meetings. (R., p.165.) In addition, the birth of Mr. Cruz’s first child drastically changed his outlook on life. (PSI, pp.4, 10.) He had a supportive relationship with his child’s mother (his fiancé) and valued being a good father. (PSI, pp.11–12, 16.) His family was “the world” to him. (R., p.163.) He and his fiancé were attending counseling together “just to be as strong as we can be.” (R., p.164.) Mr. Cruz also enrolled in a 52-week online domestic violence class. (R., p.164.) Moreover, Mr. Cruz obtained employment with 208 Side Jobs doing landscaping, restoration, and general clean up. (R., p.164.) He saved some money to pay the cost of supervision. (R., p.164.) Finally, Mr. Cruz accepted responsibility for his actions, expressed remorse, and was grateful for another chance at probation. (*See generally* Tr. Vol. II, p.7, L.5–p.10, L.4.) He wrote to the district court:

I’ve been given purpose in the role of a loving father and fianc[é] and I’m so grateful. I hope and pray I’m able to continue doing these things and you will allow me to be . . . home with my family and can see the progress I’ve made. They need my help your [H]onor and at times we are all we have. I’m just trying to do the right thing truly. I hope you understand.

(R., pp.165–66.) In light of these facts, Mr. Cruz submits that the district court’s decision to execute his ten-year sentence was an abuse of discretion. Mr. Cruz was engaged in treatment, obtained employment, and was focused on supporting his family. These facts show that Mr. Cruz could succeed in the community under proper control and supervision. The district court should have placed him back on probation.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Cruz respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order revoking his probation and remand his case for a new disposition hearing.