Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-13-2018

State v. Cruz Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45529

Issue

Has Cruz failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by revoking his probation and executing his underlying unified sentence of 10 years, with three years fixed, imposed following his guilty plea to felony domestic violence?

Cruz Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

While on probation for “aggravated DUI and leaving the scene,” Cruz “became angry” with his live-in girlfriend, Trisha, and “bit [her] on the neck, punched her in the hip/thigh,” kicked her “in the lower back and face,” “put a blanket over her face,” and “grabbed her neck with both of his hands and attempted to strangle” her while saying, “I’m going to kill you.”

(PSI, pp.398-99, 426, 590, 592.¹) Trisha “thought she lost consciousness” and believed she “was going to die.” (PSI, p.593.)

The state charged Cruz with attempted strangulation and felony domestic violence. (R., pp.49-50.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Cruz pled guilty to felony domestic violence and the state dismissed the attempted strangulation charge and agreed to recommend a period of retained jurisdiction and a unified sentence of 10 years, with three years fixed. (R., p.57.) The district court followed the state’s recommendation and imposed a unified sentence of 10 years, with three years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.70-72.) Following the period of retained jurisdiction, the district court suspended Cruz’s sentence and placed him on supervised probation for 10 years with the condition that he participate in and successfully complete domestic violence treatment. (R., pp.79-84.)

The district court subsequently held review hearings at two-month intervals; at each of the three review hearings, the court told Cruz that “the court would like to see” domestic violence treatment/classes at the next hearing. (R., pp.94-96.) Cruz failed to engage in treatment, however, and within seven months, he absconded supervision. (R., p.99.) The state filed a motion for probation violation alleging that Cruz had violated the conditions of his probation by failing to attend and/or complete domestic violence treatment, failing to attend and/or complete MRT Aftercare, changing residence without permission, failing to make himself available for supervision, absconding supervision, failing to obtain and/or maintain employment, failing to pay his restitution, and failing to make payments toward his costs of supervision. (R.,

¹ PSI page numbers correspond with the page numbers of the electronic file “Cruz 45529 psi.pdf.”

pp.98-100.) Cruz was at large and unsupervised for approximately five months before he was arrested in another county for violating his no contact order with the victim of the instant offense, who told officers that she and Cruz had been living together for the past several months. (R., pp.107-08; PSI, pp.39-40.)

Cruz subsequently admitted that he had violated the conditions of his probation by failing to complete domestic violence treatment and absconding supervision, and the state withdrew the remaining allegations. (R., p.116.) At the November 7, 2016 disposition hearing, the district court continued the hearing until February 6, 2017, to allow Cruz to begin domestic violence treatment and demonstrate that he was serious about the treatment. (R., pp.11, 118-19; 10/16/17 Tr., p.10, L.14 – p.11, L.14.) However, Cruz failed to appear for the February 6, 2017 hearing and a warrant was issued for his arrest. (R., pp.119-21.) He was arrested approximately one week later, but posted bond and was released from the jail the same day. (R., pp.121-23.) A hearing was set for March 20, 2017; however, Cruz again failed to appear and absconded. (R., pp.128, 144, 146.) He was at large for another five months before finally being arrested on the warrant. (R., p.146.)

At the disposition hearing held on October 16, 2017, the district court revoked Cruz's probation and executed the underlying sentence. (R., pp.171-73.) Cruz filed a notice of appeal timely from the district court's order revoking probation. (R., pp.175-77.)

Cruz asserts that the district court abused its discretion by revoking his probation in light of his acceptance of responsibility, participation in Alcoholics Anonymous, prior completion of Moral Reconciliation Therapy, and focus on supporting his family. (Appellant's brief, pp.2-4.) Cruz has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

“Probation is a matter left to the sound discretion of the court.” I.C. § 19-2601(4). The decision whether to revoke a defendant’s probation for a violation is within the discretion of the district court. State v. Garner, 161 Idaho 708, 710, 390 P.3d 434, 436 (2017) (quoting State v. Knutsen, 138 Idaho 918, 923, 71 P.3d 1065, 1070 (Ct. App. 2003)). The goal of probation is to foster the probationer’s rehabilitation while protecting public safety. State v. Cheatham, 159 Idaho 856, ___, 367 P.3d 251, 253 (Ct. App. 2016) (citations omitted). In determining whether to revoke probation, a court must examine whether the probation is achieving the goal of rehabilitation and is consistent with the protection of society. State v. Cornelison, 154 Idaho 793, 797, 302 P.3d 1066, 1070 (Ct. App. 2013) (citations omitted). A decision to revoke probation will be disturbed on appeal only upon a showing that the trial court abused its discretion. Id. at 798, 302 P.3d at 1071 (citing State v. Beckett, 122 Idaho 324, 326, 834 P.2d 326, 328 (Ct. App. 1992)).

Cruz is not a viable candidate for probation in light of his refusal to abide by the conditions of community supervision, repeated absconding behavior, and failure to complete his required rehabilitative treatment while in the community. Cruz’s record contains multiple probation violations, and he has a history of absconding supervision. (PSI, pp.7-8.) He was on felony probation in an aggravated DUI case, absconded, and had been at large for approximately eight months when he committed the instant offense. (PSI, p.8.) At that time, his probation officer opined that Cruz “has made it clear he does not plan on taking advantage of the opportunity of supervision,” and, “He is not suitable for supervision in the community at this time and it would appear he will require a more structured environment where he can address his criminal thinking issues.” (PSI, p.404.)

After Cruz was placed on probation in this case, he failed to complete his mandatory domestic violence treatment, despite the district court's prompting and affording him numerous opportunities to do so. (R., pp.94-96, 99, 118; PSI, p.311.) Cruz instead chose to abscond supervision and moved in with the victim of the instant offense; he was not located until officers responded to their residence "in reference to a domestic dispute in progress," at which time Cruz was arrested for violating the no contact order with the victim. (PSI, pp.39-40, 99.) Even after Cruz admitted that he had violated his probation in this case, the district court granted him another opportunity to demonstrate that he was serious about completing domestic violence treatment by continuing the disposition hearing to allow Cruz time to meaningfully engage in treatment. (R., pp.11, 118-19; 10/16/17 Tr., p.10, L.14 – p.11, L.14.) However, Cruz squandered the opportunity and once more chose to abscond. (R., pp.119-23, 128, 144, 146.) An offender's decision to abscond, no matter the reason, prevents authorities from ensuring that probation is serving its intended function. In no way can probation meet the goals of protecting the community and rehabilitation if the probationer chooses to remove himself from probation supervision. See State v. Sandoval, 92 Idaho 853, 860, 452 P.2d 350, 357 (1969) (citing State v. Oylar, 92 Idaho 43, 436 P.2d 706 (1968)) (emphasis added) (purpose of probation is to give the offender "an opportunity to be rehabilitated *under proper control and supervision*"). In fact, Cruz's probation officer reported that, due to Cruz's absconding, he met Cruz only once during the two years that Cruz was on probation. (PSI, p.311.)

At the October 16, 2017 disposition hearing, the state addressed Cruz's failure to rehabilitate and his unwillingness to abide by the law, court orders, or the terms of community supervision. (10/16/17 Tr., p.4, L.6 – p.5, L.24 (Appendix A).) The district court subsequently articulated its reasons for revoking Cruz's probation. (10/16/17 Tr., p.10, L.9 – p.12, L.8

(Appendix B.) The state submits that Cruz has failed to establish an abuse of discretion, for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpts of the October 16, 2017 disposition hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal. (Appendices A and B.)

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's order revoking Cruz's probation and executing his underlying sentence.